RECEIVED

Jul 06 2026

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Charleston County

Honorable Patrick Cleburne Fant, III, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

ISRAEL MALACHI ROBINSON,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2024-002140

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS
Senior Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial judge err in allowing the elected coroner to testify about findings from an autopsy report without requiring the pathologist who conducted the autopsy to testify when the evidence included testimonial hearsay in violation of the Sixth Amendment right to confront witnesses?
2. Did the trial judge err in refusing to instruct the jury on the law of self-defense?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In June of 2024, the Charleston County Grand Jury indicted Appellant, Israel Malachi Robinson, for murder, attempted murder, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, indictments #2024-GS-10-03096, 97, 98. (R. pp. 495-496, 500-501, 505-506). On December 9, 2024, Appellant proceeded to jury trial before the Honorable Patrick C. Fant, III. Karla C. Martinez and Jason T. King represented Appellant. Lemuel C. Zeigler and Daniel W. Cooper prosecuted the case. The jury returned verdicts of guilty. Judge Fant sentenced Appellant to fifty-five (55) years for murder, thirty (30) years concurrent for attempted murder, and five (5) years concurrent for the weapon charge. (R. pp. 497-499, 502-504, 507-509). A timely notice of intent to appeal was served on December 18, 2024. This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On June 22, 2021, Jaquez Butler died from multiple gunshot wounds at the Pinecrest Apartments in North Charleston. Butler had been staying with his grandmother at the Pinecrest Apartments for about two weeks. (R. p. 93, lines 16-19). Saguni Dotson testified that on June 22, 2021, she was with her former boyfriend, Eugen “E.J.” Morgan¹, and his cousin, the deceased, Jaquez “Quez” Butler. (R. p. 263, line 20 – p. 264, lines 1-12). Dotson testified that when they returned to the Pinecrest Apartments E.J. and Quez got out of the car. (R. p. 264, lines 13-15). She testified that both E.J. and Quez had weapons. (R. p. 265, lines 18-22). Dotson testified that Quez was going to meet with “Cal.”² (R. p. 269, lines 1-2). Cal Lockwood testified that on June 22, 2021, she drove to the Pinecrest Apartments because she had been texting with the person who got shot and killed about smoking weed but she left because he was taking too long. (R. p. 157, line 6 – p. 158, lines 1-10).

An officer with the North Charleston Police Department testified that the Pinecrest Apartment was a “very, very high crime area.” (R. p. 93, lines 4-5). When asked about video surveillance at the apartments the officer testified, “So we had to go there so often to download footage that they actually give us a website where we can access their footage remotely. So we’d go to – be in our office. We can log into their camera systems and play back or watch live from their video system.” (R. p. 94, line 24 – p. 95, lines 1-3).

Dotson testified that a couple minutes after E.J. and Quez got out of the car she saw somebody who was tall and skinny with dreads run around the building and then E.J. ran back to

¹ Morgan did not testify at trial.

² Pretrial the Judge granted the State’s motion to exclude evidence that the deceased planned to rob Cal. (R. pp. 20-32). The defense proffered Dotson’s testimony about the planned robbery. (R. pp. 274-277).

the car and said two people were shooting at them. Video surveillance from the apartments, as well as from a beauty supply store next to Max's Quick Stop near the apartments, show Appellant's car being present at the time of the shooting. (R. pp. 101-111; pp. 53-54). Officers with the North Charleston Police Department found the car eight days after the shooting at the Pinecrest Apartments. (R. p. 215, lines 3-25). Officer Bernard testified that as the car was getting ready to be towed, Appellant came out and asked why his car was being towed. (R. p. 216, lines 1-9). The officer told Appellant, " 'This vehicle is of interest for a homicide', and that 'We're also interested in talking to you in reference to that homicide as well.' " (R. p. 216, lines 11-13). Appellant agreed to talk with officers, waived his *Miranda* rights and answered their questions. (R. p. 216, line 14 – pp. 253-256).

Appellant eventually admitted to driving to Max's Quick Stop and driving back into the Pinecrest Apartments but stated that he bailed out of the car and did not drive the car out of the Pinecrest Apartments after the shooting. (R. p. 221, line 9 – p. 222, lines 1-12). Appellant told the officers he was with the co-defendant, Framon "D.J." Frasier, and Soso. (R. p. 222, lines 13-20). He also told the officers that his brother was beaten up a few days earlier. (R. p. 223, lines 5-9).

Co-defendant Framon "D³.J." Frasier testified, "Somebody went after his brother, and he went back for – okay. Somebody went after his brother, and they came to his place and a shooting happened." (R. p. 283, lines 21-23). Frasier testified that Appellant lived at the Pinecrest Apartments. (R. p. 284, lines 23-24). Frasier testified that he and Appellant both had AR weapons. (R. p. 285, line 22 – p. 286, lines 1-3). When asked who shot first, Frasier answered, "They did." (R. p. 290, lines 17-23). He then testified that he was not sure if it was

³ The transcript reflects E.J. but this appears to be a typographical error. (R. p. 282, line 12).

fireworks or shots. (R. p. 290, lines 20-23). When asked why he shot, Frasier answered, “I just – I just shot back to protect myself.” (R. p. 291, line 24 – p. 328, lines 1-2). Frasier confirmed that he initially told the detectives that they were shot at first. (R. p. 295, lines 1-2). Later, while meeting with prosecutors, Frasier told them that Appellant “Izzy” shot first, and then he shot, and the others might have shot back. (R. p. 295, lines 1-20). Frasier was charged with murder, attempted murder, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, but the murder charge was reduced to voluntary manslaughter, and the other charges were dismissed. (R. p. 297, lines 14-22). Frasier pled guilty to voluntary manslaughter and was awaiting sentencing of fifteen to twenty years at the time of trial. (R. p. 297, lines 23-25). Records from the South Carolina Department of Corrections reflect Frasier’s admission date as November 12, 2025. The sentence was not available at the time of writing the initial brief.

ARGUMENTS

1. **The trial judge erred in allowing the elected coroner to testify about findings from an autopsy report without requiring the pathologist who conducted the autopsy to testify when the evidence included testimonial hearsay in violation of the Sixth Amendment right to confront witnesses.**

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“[W]hether a statement is testimonial and therefore subject to the confrontation clause is a question of law reviewed de novo. See United States v. Mathis, 932 F.3d 242, 255 (4th Cir. 2019) (noting an alleged confrontation clause issue presents a question of law).” State v. Brewer, 438 S.C. 37, 44, 882 S.E.2d 156, 160 (2022).

DISCUSSION

The co-defendant, Framon “D.J.” Frasier, gave conflicting statements about who shot first. (R. pp. 290-295). The judge denied the defense request for a self-defense charge, as will be discussed in issue two. (R. p. 401, line 11 – p. 402, lines 1-25). Pre-trial the State moved to call Coroner Bobbi Jo O’Neal to testify about the results of the autopsy report instead of the pathologist who performed the autopsy. (R. p. 13, line 9 – pp. 14-17). The prosecutor told the judge, “Candidly, Dr. Downs has been somewhat difficult in the preparations and, in all candor, seeks payment for his testimony.” (R. p. 13, lines 13-15). The State advised that they did not intend to call the coroner as an expert. (R. p. 14, lines 9-10). The State told the judge, “The only, quote/unquote, ‘opinion testimony’ that we may elicit is some of the words are very medical terms – ‘posterior,’ ‘anterior,’ things like that –that we would just ask her in her experience to define. She would be merely stating the findings of the report and in no way offering any expert opinion one way or the other on the validity of them.” (R. p. 14, lines 11-17). Defense counsel objected to allowing the coroner to testify because the findings in the

autopsy report were testimonial, and pursuant to Crawford,⁴ and its progeny,⁵ the pathologist's testimony was necessary under the Confrontation Clause. (R. pp. 18-19).

The judge granted the State's motion stating, "I am going to -- I guess -- well, defense, ya'll have filed a motion in opposition, so I will -- I'm going to deny that motion. I am going to allow Bobbi Jo O'Neal to testify as the county coroner as to findings specifically. And I do find under 803(8) and 803(9) that it is allowed in. Also, it will -- I find that it is relevant under 404. Also, I find that it is not testimonial and does not implicate the confrontation clause." (R. p. 19, lines 15-22).

The State called the coroner as a witness at trial instead of calling the pathologist. (R. p. 368, line 16). The coroner testified that the cause of death was listed as multiple gunshot wounds. (R. p. 372, lines 17-19). During the testimony the State asked the coroner, "Okay. I want to walk through each of these wound paths Dr. Downs located, and if you could help explain that for the jury." (R. p. 373, lines 17-19). The State asked, "Regarding the first wound path that I think encompasses -- as he has in his report -- wounds A, B, and C, will you tell us where that entry wound is located." (R. p. 373, lines 21-23). The coroner answered, "So wounds A, B, and C are going to the right arm." (R. p. 373, line 24). Defense counsel objected based on hearsay and confrontation. (R. p. 373, line 25). The trial judge overruled the objection stating, "Overruled. I'm going to allow her to testify as to the findings of the report, as has previously been ruled on. But your objection is noted for the record." (R. p. 374, lines 1-3). The coroner went on to testify about bullet pathways, defects, entrance and exit wounds, a wound being "through and through," and wound locations. (R. pp. 374-380). The State went so

⁴ Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 54, 124 S.Ct. 1354, 158 L.Ed.2d 177 (2004).

⁵ Melendez-Díaz v. Massachusetts, 557 U.S. 305, 129 S.Ct. 2527, 174 L.Ed.2d 314 (2009); Bullcoming v. New Mexico, 564 U.S. 647, 671-72, 131 S.Ct. 2705, 180 L.Ed.2d 610 (2011).

far as to ask the coroner if the direction or path of a bullet would be consistent with someone running or falling when shot to which the coroner opined, “It could be consistent. It’s possible, yeah.” (R. p. 378, lines 3-36). She later testified, “They’d either have to be laying down so there [sic] sole is available or they’d have to have their foot turned in such a way that the sole can get hit. Correct.” (R. p. 380, lines 2-6).

The trial judge erred in allowing the coroner to testify about findings from the autopsy report and not requiring the pathologist who conducted the autopsy to testify. The testimony went beyond the public records and vital statistics hearsay exceptions found in Rule 803(8)(9), SCRE. The testimony from the coroner constituted impermissible testimonial hearsay. The testimony violated Appellant’s right of confrontation under the Sixth Amendment.

In State v. Cutro, 365 S.C. 366, 377–78, 618 S.E.2d 890, 896 (2005), the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote:

Further, autopsy reports are not hearsay under Rule 803, SCRE. Subsection (8) of this rule excepts from hearsay public records and reports containing matters there is a duty to report. Autopsies are required in cases of SIDS if law enforcement deems it necessary. S.C.Code Ann. § 17–5–540 (2003) and § 20–7–5915 (Supp.2004). Additionally, subsection (9) of Rule 803 specifically exempts from hearsay records of vital statistics, including “reports ... of ... deaths ... if the report thereof was made to a public office pursuant to requirements of law.” Autopsy reports are required to be kept by the medical examiner's office. S.C.Code Ann. § 17–5–280 (2003). Accordingly, an autopsy report is not inadmissible hearsay.

A jury found Gail Cutro guilty of two counts of homicide by child abuse for the death of two infants, Parker C. and Ashlan D., who died in the home daycare operated by Gail and her husband Josh Cutro. The autopsy reports in question in the Cutro case were used by the State’s medical expert, Dr. Ophoven, to distinguish 274 autopsy reports of SIDS deaths that did not show petechial hemorrhages with the autopsy reports of the two deceased infants in question that did show petechial hemorrhages. In addition to Rule 803 (8) and (9), SCRE, the Court also

relied on Rule 703, SCRE to find the autopsy reports admissible under the Rules of Evidence writing, “In addition, Rule 703, SCRE, specifically provides: ‘The facts or data in the particular case upon which an expert bases an opinion or inference may be those perceived by or made known to the expert at or before the hearing. If of a type reasonably relied upon by experts in the particular field in forming opinions or inferences upon the subject, the facts or data need not be admissible in evidence.’ We conclude evidence of the autopsy reports was admissible under the Rules of Evidence.” Cutro, 365 S.C. at 378, 618 S.E.2d at 896.

The Court in Cutro then addressed the Confrontation Clause writing:

Finally, in Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 54, 124 S.Ct. 1354, 158 L.Ed.2d 177 (2004), the United States Supreme Court noted the hearsay exception for business records and observed that business records are not “testimonial” and therefore do not implicate the Confrontation Clause. A public record, very much like a business record, is not testimonial and its admission similarly does not violate the defendant's confrontation rights. Moreover, appellant was able to cross-examine Dr. Ophoven regarding the possible inaccuracies in these autopsy reports and presented extensive expert testimony reinterpreting the significance of their findings. We find appellant's confrontation rights were not infringed.

We hold the trial judge did not err in allowing Dr. Ophoven's testimony regarding the autopsies of other deaths.

365 S.C. at 378, 618 S.E.2d at 896 (n. 7 omitted).

Cutro is distinguished from the present case. First, Cutro was decided before Melendez-Diaz v. Massachusetts, 557 U.S. 305, 129 S.Ct. 2527, 174 L.Ed.2d 314 (2009), where the United States Supreme Court held that a forensic laboratory report stating that an unknown substance was cocaine qualifies as testimonial evidence to which the Confrontation Clause applies. Second, in Cutro, Dr. Daniel, who performed the initial autopsy on Parker C., and Dr. Reynolds, who performed the initial autopsy on Ashlan D., both testified at trial and were subject to cross-examination. The pathologist who conducted the autopsy in the present case did not testify and was not subject to cross-examination. The coroner's testimony in the present case was

testimonial as it went to the pathologist's autopsy findings as opposed to the State's medical expert in Cutro who testified about a summary of autopsies from other SIDS deaths. The coroner's testimony in the present case went beyond the public records and vital statistics hearsay exceptions found in Rule 803(8)(9), SCRE.

Additionally Rule 703, SCRE does not allow admission of the testimony in the present case as it did in Cutro where the State's medical expert, who was cross-examined, relied on the other autopsy reports in forming an opinion. While the coroner was erroneously allowed to give opinion testimony, the State did not offer her, or anyone else as an expert in forensic pathology. Rule 703, SCRE, provides, "The facts or data in the particular case upon which an expert bases an opinion or inference may be those perceived by or made known to the expert at or before the hearing. If of a type reasonably relied upon by experts in the particular field in forming opinions or inferences upon the subject, the facts or data need not be admissible in evidence." Rule 703, SCRE does not apply in the present case because the State failed to call an expert witness. The coroner's testimony in the present case was inadmissible testimonial hearsay.

In State v. Brewer, 438 S.C. 37, 48–49, 882 S.E.2d 156, 162 (2022), the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote:

"The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees that '[i]n all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right ... to be confronted with the witnesses against him.' " State v. Brockmeyer, 406 S.C. 324, 340, 751 S.E.2d 645, 653 (2013) (quoting U.S. Const. amend. VI). Whether the Confrontation Clause applies "turns on whether the challenged out-of-court statement is testimonial ... [and] 'applies to "witnesses" against the accused—in other words, those who "bear testimony." ' " Id. at 342, 751 S.E.2d at 654 (quoting Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 51, 124 S.Ct. 1354, 158 L.Ed.2d 177 (2004)). In determining whether an out-of-court statement is testimonial, courts employ the primary purpose test, which consists of "where the primary purpose of an out-of-court statement is to serve as evidence or 'an out-of-court substitute for trial testimony,' the statement is considered testimonial." Id. (quoting Bullcoming v. New Mexico, 564 U.S. 647, 671–72, 131 S.Ct. 2705, 180 L.Ed.2d 610 (2011) (Sotomayor, J., concurring)). If the primary purpose is not to

serve as evidence at a later trial or as a substitute for in person testimony, the Confrontation Clause does not apply and admissibility is left to the rules of evidence. *Id.* at 342, 751 S.E.2d at 654–55. To make that determination, courts review “not the subjective or actual purpose of the individuals involved in a particular encounter, but rather the purpose that reasonable participants would have had, as ascertained from the individuals’ statements and actions and the circumstances in which the encounter occurred.” *Id.* at 342–43, 751 S.E.2d at 655 (internal citation omitted).

In Brewer, the pathologist who performed the autopsy, Dr. Fulcher, submitted blood and tissue samples to the National Medical Services [NMS] laboratory for further testing because he could not determine a cause of death. After receiving the toxicology results from the NMS lab, Dr. Fulcher concluded the cause of death was “acute oxycodone toxicity.” Dr. Fulcher was allowed to testify about the NMS lab results without the State calling a witness from NMS. The South Carolina Supreme Court found that the NMS lab results were testimonial in nature and Brewer should have had an opportunity to cross examine the person who performed the testing. “Without being afforded that right, Brewer lost her constitutional right to “force[] the witness to submit to cross-examination, the ‘greatest legal engine ever invented for the discovery of truth.’ California v. Green, 399 U.S. 149, 158, 90 S.Ct. 1930, 26 L.Ed.2d 489 (1970) (internal citation omitted).” Brewer, 438 S.C. at 54–55, 882 S.E.2d at 165. “Accordingly, the State violated Brewer’s Sixth Amendment right to confront the witnesses against her because it was permitted to use a surrogate witness to explain the results of a test involving a key fact at issue and to essentially vouch for the accuracy of that lab without undergoing the ‘crucible of cross-examination.’ Crawford, 541 U.S. at 61, 124 S.Ct. 1354.” Brewer, 438 S.C. at 54, 882 S.E.2d at 165.

The findings from the autopsy report in the present case, like the lab results in Brewer, were testimonial in nature. The primary purpose of the autopsy results was to be used as evidence at trial. The trial judge erred in allowing the coroner to testify as a surrogate about the

results from the autopsy without calling the pathologist who performed the autopsy. Appellant lost his constitutional right to force the pathologist to submit to cross-examination, the “greatest legal engine ever invented for the discovery of truth.”

The Court in Brewer noted:

Other state appellate courts have looked to their respective statutes governing autopsies, and many have reasoned that if an autopsy is legally required in order to investigate a death, then its primary purpose is for a criminal investigation and thus, is testimonial. See State v. Frazier, 229 W.Va. 724, 735 S.E.2d 727, 731 (2012) (“The next logical question is whether Dr. Belding's autopsy report was prepared to establish or prove past events potentially relevant to later criminal prosecutions and, therefore, meets the primary purpose test. The answer to this is an unqualified yes.”); Cuesta-Rodriguez v. State, 241 P.3d 214, 228 (Okla. 2010) (finding that an autopsy report in a suspicious death was testimonial where state law mandated an autopsy be performed and noting that it was “obvious” that a medical examiner would reasonably understand that any statements in that report could be used in a later criminal prosecution); State v. Locklear, 363 N.C. 438, 452, 681 S.E.2d 293, 305 (2009) (holding the Confrontation Clause barred the state from introducing evidence of forensic analysis from a pathologist and dentist who did not testify); but see Ackerman v. State, 51 N.E.3d 171, 189 (Ind. 2016) (concluding that an autopsy report was not testimonial).

Brewer, 438 S.C. at 52–53, 882 S.E.2d at 164–65.

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