RECEIVED

Jul 15 2026

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Charleston County
Honorable Patrick Cleburne Fant, III

Appellate Case No. 2024-002140

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT,

v.

ISRAEL ROBINSON,

APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

DANIELLE DIXON
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 73999

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3737

SCARLETT A. WILSON
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit
O.T. Wallace Building
101 Meeting Street
Charleston, South Carolina 29401

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

⁶ Appellant did not make any objection or argument related to expert testimony and thus did not preserve any issue related to expert testimony. See State v. Westmoreland, 421 S.C. 410, 418, 807 S.E.2d 701, 706 (Ct. App. 2017) (finding coroner’s testimony about cause of death constituted improper opinion testimony by a lay witness in violation of Rule 701(a), SCRE).

the admission of evidence because “evidence developed during [the interim] may warrant a change in the ruling” (alteration in original)).

Under Cutro, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in allowing the coroner to testify about the autopsy report. Specifically, Cutro concluded the autopsy reports were non-testimonial because “[a] public record, very much like a business record, is not testimonial and its admission similarly does not violate the defendant's confrontation rights.” Id. at 378, 618 S.E.2d at 896. Appellant attempts to distinguish Cutro on the basis the pathologists who performed the initial autopsies on Parker C. and Ashlan D. “both testified at trial and were subject to cross-examination.” (App. Br. 9). However, the issue on appeal in Cutro was whether the trial court erred in allowing Dr. Ophoven to testify about 274 *other* autopsy reports she reviewed—not whether the trial court erred in allowing testimony about Parker C. and Ashlan D.’s autopsy reports. Id. at 377, 618 S.E.2d at 896. Thus, similar to the instant case, the witness in Cutro testified about findings from autopsy reports in cases where she did not conduct the autopsy.

Much of Appellant’s argument is premised on an assertion that Cutro was decided before Melendez-Diaz⁷ and its progeny. However, as noted by other jurisdictions, Melendez-Diaz and its progeny do not address whether an autopsy report is testimonial. See Hensley v. Roden, 755 F.3d 724, 732 (1st Cir. 2014) (“Melendez-Diaz did not say one way or the other whether autopsy reports should be considered testimonial.”); Gines v. State, No. 2026 WL 696353, at *18 (Ga. Mar. 12, 2026) (“Smith does not answer the question of whether the absent pathologist's written statements in the autopsy report at issue were testimonial.”); People v. Cortez, 402 Ill. App. 3d 468, 474, 931 N.E.2d 751, 756 (2010) (finding Melendez-Diaz did not upset its prior holding that autopsy reports

⁷ Melendez-Diaz v. Massachusetts, 557 U.S. 305, 310 (2009) (holding affidavits reporting the results of forensic drug analysis were testimonial because they were “quite plainly affidavits”—which was mentioned twice in Crawford’s list of testimonial statements).

are business records that do not implicate Crawford).

In fact, several jurisdictions since Melendez-Diaz have concluded an autopsy report is non-testimonial.⁸ Melendez-Diaz was not groundbreaking; as noted by the United States Supreme Court, it “involve[d] little more than the application of” Crawford. Melendez-Diaz, 557 U.S. at 329. Melendez-Diaz, Bullcoming,⁹ and Smith¹⁰ all dealt with drug analysis reports; none of those cases considered whether an autopsy report is testimonial. Although Melendez-Diaz and Bullcoming found the drug analysis reports testimonial because they were certified (and thus affidavits), Smith expressly declined to consider whether the drug analysis report was testimonial,

⁸ See, e.g., United States v. James, 712 F.3d 79, 99 (2d Cir. 2013) (“[T]he autopsy report was not testimonial because it was not prepared primarily to create a record for use at a criminal trial.”); Cortez, 931 N.E.2d at 756 (Illinois) (finding autopsy report not testimonial where it was “created for the administration of [the medical examiner’s affairs]” and “was not admitted to establish or prove some fact at trial and did not lend itself to establishing defendant’s guilt or innocence”); People v. Dungo, 286 P.3d 442, 450 (Cali Sup. Ct. 2012) (“[C]riminal investigation was not the primary purpose for the autopsy report’s description of the condition of Pina’s body; it was only one of several purposes. The presence of a detective at the autopsy and the statutory requirement that suspicious findings be reported to law enforcement do not change that conclusion. The autopsy continued to serve several purposes, only one of which was criminal investigation. The autopsy report itself was simply an official explanation of an unusual death, and such official records are ordinarily not testimonial.”); Banmah v. State, 87 So. 3d 101, 103 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2012) (“Further, autopsy reports are non-testimonial because they are prepared pursuant to a statutory duty, and not solely for use in prosecution.”). Admittedly, some jurisdictions have concluded pathology reports are testimonial. See Appellant’s brief at 14-17. However, as explained in the next section, this Court does not need to revisit Cutro or consider this issue because any error here is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

⁹ Bullcoming v. New Mexico, 564 U.S. 647, 657 (2011) (“[T]he Confrontation Clause does not “permit the prosecution to introduce a forensic laboratory report containing a testimonial certification, made in order to prove a fact at a criminal trial, through the in-court testimony of an analyst who did not sign the certification or personally perform or observe the performance of the test reported in the certification.”).

¹⁰ Smith v. Arizona, 602 U.S. 779, 800, 800-01 (2024) (finding drug analysis report was offered for the “truth of the matter” but declining to determine whether it was testimonial).

instead remanding that issue to the State court.¹¹ In other words, the only statements the United States Supreme Court has concluded are testimonial are statements that were “quite plainly affidavits”—which is expressly testimonial under Crawford. See id. An autopsy report is not “plainly” an affidavit, and thus Cutro remains good law.¹²

Under these facts, where the cause of death was not disputed, the trial court properly concluded the testimony was non-testimonial. This case is different than Brewer, where the South Carolina Supreme Court concluded a pathologist’s testimony about a toxicology report from an independent lab violated the Confrontation Clause. 438 S.C. at 37, 882 S.E.2d at 156. First, the objectionable testimony in Brewer was testimony about a toxicology report from an analyst who was not called to testify—not a autopsy report. Second, and critically, the cause of death in Brewer was disputed, and thus the findings of the toxicology report involved a key fact at issue: “the State had to establish the cause of death and disprove Brewer's contention that the child accidentally ingested oxycodone by swallowing a pill or pills.” Id. at 53, 882 S.E.2d at 165. Here, however, the cause of death—gunshot wounds—was not disputed. Thus, Brewer is distinguishable.

¹¹ See Melendez-Diaz, 557 U.S. at 310 (“The documents at issue here, while denominated by Massachusetts law ‘certificates,’ are quite plainly affidavits: ‘declaration[s] of facts written down and sworn to by the declarant before an officer authorized to administer oaths.’” (quoting Crawford, at 51) (alteration in original)); id. (“There is little doubt that the documents at issue in this case fall within the ‘core class of testimonial statements’ thus described. Our description of that category mentions affidavits twice.”); Bullcoming, 564 U.S. at 665 (“Like the analysts in Melendez-Diaz, analyst Caylor tested the evidence and prepared a certificate concerning the result of his analysis. Like the Melendez-Diaz certificates, Caylor's certificate is ‘formalized’ in a signed document” (internal citation omitted)); Smith, 602 U.S. at 800-01 (declining to determine whether drug analysis report was testimonial and remanding to State court to consider that issue).

¹² In fact, Justice Thomas—the necessary fifth vote for the Melendez-Diaz majority opinion—limited his support to “formalized testimonial materials, such as affidavits, depositions, prior testimony, or confessions,” and joined in the majority opinion “because the documents at issue in this case ‘are quite plainly affidavits.’” 557 U.S. at 329-30 (J. Thomas, concurring). It is thus unlikely a majority of the Melendez-Diaz Justices would have concluded an autopsy report is testimonial.

This case is more akin to Brockmeyer, where the South Carolina Supreme Court concluded computerized chain-of-custody logs were non-testimonial.¹³ 406 S.C. at 324, 751 S.E.2d at 645. The Court reasoned the evidence logs, which “were kept as business records for the purpose of identifying and storing evidentiary items,” were non-testimonial because they “were not created for the sole purpose of providing evidence against the defendant.” Id. at 352, 751 S.E.2d at 660.

The Court elaborated:

Indeed, the evidence logs do not purport to prove any fact necessary to the conviction, and the custodians who did not testify were in no manner involved in the testing or analysis of the recovered items; thus, the statements by non-testifying custodians contained in the chain-of-custody logs are not testimonial in nature because their “primary purpose” is not to constitute evidence in a criminal trial. Because we find these statements are not testimonial, they are exempt from Confrontation Clause scrutiny.

Id. at 352, 751 S.E.2d at 660.

Like the evidence logs in Brockmeyer and the autopsy reports in Cutro, the autopsy report here was not created “for the sole purpose of providing evidence against the defendant.” Rather, section 17-5-530 of the South Carolina Code requires investigations into certain deaths (not limited to homicide), and the examiner is required to make a report. Further, not every autopsy results in criminal charges. Thus, autopsy reports have purposes other than serving as evidence in a criminal trial. See, e.g., Dungo, 286 P.3d at 450 (“The usefulness of autopsy reports, including the one at issue here, is not limited to criminal investigation and prosecution; such reports serve many other equally important purposes. For example, the decedent's relatives may use an autopsy report in determining whether to file an action for wrongful death. And an insurance company may use an autopsy report in determining whether a particular death is covered by one of its policies. Also, in

¹³ Brockmeyer was decided after Melendez-Diaz and Bullcoming, and the Brockmeyer Court considered both cases in its analysis.

certain cases an autopsy report may satisfy the public's interest in knowing the cause of death, particularly when (as here) the death was reported in the local media. In addition, an autopsy report may provide answers to grieving family members.” (internal citation omitted)).

Additionally, like the evidence logs in Brockmeyer, the testimony about the autopsy report here did not purport to prove any fact necessary to the conviction. Rather, the cause of death—gunshot wounds—was undisputed. Thus, under the facts of this case—where the cause of death was undisputed—the trial court properly concluded the coroner’s testimony was non-testimonial. See also Cortez, 931 N.E.2d at 756 (“Conversely, the autopsy report in this case was created for the administration of [the medical examiner's] affairs. Furthermore, the autopsy report was not admitted to establish or prove some fact at trial and did not lend itself to establishing defendant's guilt or innocence. Defendant's theory at trial was that Martinez shot and killed the victim. The cause and manner of the victim's death were not contested.” (internal quotations marks and citation omitted) (alteration in original)).

c. Because the cause of death was undisputed, O’Neal’s testimony was cumulative to other un-objected to testimony, and this was not a self-defense case, any error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Here, (1) where the cause of death was undisputed, (2) the coroner’s testimony about wound paths was cumulative to other unobjected-to testimony, and (3) this was not a self-defense case, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

“The violation of the Sixth Amendment right to confrontation is not per se reversible error.” State v. Young, 420 S.C. 608, 626, 803 S.E.2d 888, 897 (Ct. App. 2017) (applying a harmless error analysis to a Bruton violation). “This Court must determine whether the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.” State v. Gillian, 360 S.C. 433, 454, 602 S.E.2d 62, 73 (Ct. App. 2004), *aff’d* as modified, 373 S.C. 601, 646 S.E.2d 872 (2007)).

Whether an error is harmless depends on the particular facts of each case and upon a host of factors including:

the importance of the witness' testimony in the prosecution's case, whether the testimony was cumulative, the presence or absence of evidence corroborating or contradicting the testimony of the witness on material points, the extent of cross-examination otherwise permitted, and of course the overall strength of the prosecution's case.

State v. Mizzell, 349 S.C. 326, 333, 563 S.E.2d 315, 318 (2002).

Initially, defense counsel acknowledged the cause of death was not disputed. (R. 312). Likewise, there was no evidence elicited at trial of any alternative cause of death. Contra Brewer, 4438 S.C. at 54, 882 S.E.2d at 165 (“The State violated Brewer's Sixth Amendment right to confront the witnesses against her because it was permitted to use a surrogate witness to explain the results of a test *involving a key fact at issue* and to essentially vouch for the accuracy of that lab without undergoing the crucible of cross-examination.” (emphasis added) (internal quotation marks omitted)). Here, the undisputed evidence showed Victim died of gunshot wounds.

Further, the coroner’s testimony that Victim died of gunshot wounds was cumulative to other unobjected-to testimony. Detective Pritchard testified Victim was lying face-down when he arrived at the scene. He elaborated, “Whenever the coroner got there, he started examining his body. He noticed several gunshots but we kind of were limited on just what we could find without removing all his clothes. And all the gunshots appeared to be into the back.” (R. 92). Likewise, Investigator Moseley testified that when she responded, she “was advised that [Victim] had succumbed to their injuries on scene.” (R. 116-17). She noticed “spalling effect” on Victim’s body—“where there was something that had terminated just under the skin and created a little lump. And it corresponded later on with what we found to be gunshot wounds that was located on the back of the body.” (R. 141). Investigator Mosley clarified there were eleven entrance wounds

on the back of Victim's body, and six spalling effects on the front of his body. (R. 141-42). The foregoing testimony—which was not objected to—showed Victim died of gunshot wounds.

Additionally, the coroner testified—without objection—that the cause of death was gunshot wounds, and the bullets travelled predominantly from the back to the front. (R. 372-73). Likewise, the State entered—without objection—pictures of Victim's clothing depicting multiple holes from bullets; thus, the jury had the opportunity to examine Victim's clothes and see where the bullet holes were located. (R. 380-84; Exs. 169-76). It is undisputed that Victim died as a result of being shot multiple times.

Finally, this was not a self-defense case, so the trajectory of the bullets was irrelevant.¹⁴ Appellant's closing argument focused on his assertion that he left the scene before the shooting and was not the shooter. (R. 433-41). In fact, throughout closing argument, Appellant refuted the State's theory that Appellant went back to Pinecrest because "hunters" were looking for him. (R. 435, 438, 441). Thus, the primary consideration for the jury was whether Appellant was a shooter—not how Victim died, why Victim was shot, or whether the shooting occurred in self-defense.¹⁵ Because the cause of death was undisputed, unobjected-to evidence established Victim was shot multiple times and died of gunshot wounds, and self-defense was not an issue, any error in allowing the coroner to testify about the pathologist's findings of bullet trajectory was harmless

¹⁴ Even if relevant, it was largely cumulative to Investigator Moseley's testimony that she observed eleven entrance wounds on the back of Victim and six spalling effects on the front. (R. 141-42).

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